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An Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment of the Proposed Route of Fort William Water Supply - Banavie SR Branch Supply Main

Introduction

The author was asked by Halcrow Crouch, on behalf of the North of Scotland Water Authority,  to carry out an archaeological desk-based assessment and walk-over survey of the route of the proposed water main. However, restrictions on access to land used by livestock during the Foot and Mouth outbreak (March 2001) meant that the walk-over survey part of the project would have to be delayed for an indefinite period. In order not to delay the progress of the project, it was decided to complete and submit the desk-based assessment.

The object of the assessment is to identify archaeological features or areas of archaeological interest along the route of the water main, to estimate the potential damage to these features from the excavation of the pipeline trench, from routes of access or areas of storage of materials. Recommendations will be made to mitigate the effect of the project on the archaeological record, by suggesting minor alterations to the route of the water main to avoid archaeological features, or, where this proves impractical, by ensuring that adequate archaeological recording of features to be affected adversely, and monitoring of excavation work in areas of archaeological interest be carried out.

It is understood that an archaeological watching brief is already proposed for the section of work immediately adjacent to the canal, where work is likely to intrude into the fabric of the canal.

Method

Information on previously recorded archaeological features was acquired from the Highland Council’s Sites and Monuments record, held by the Archaeology Unit within the Department of Planning and Development at Highland Council. The Archaeology Unit also kindly provided aerial photographs of the relevant area. The Highland Archive in Inverness holds a large amount of material relating to the construction of the Caledonian Canal, including interim reports and accounting for work in progress, as well as maps and plans made before, during and after work on the canal. The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, dating to the 1870s, and valuation rolls for the Locheil estates gave information on the formation and development of the crofting township at Banavie. The following books gave detailed information on the period of the Clearances and changes in settlement over the 19th century:

      T.M. Devine,  “The Great Highland Famine”   (1988)

      Alexander Mackenzie,  ‘The History of the Highland Clearances’   (1883)

      Thomas Pennant,    ‘A Tour of Scotland in 1769”   (1774)

      Robert Somers,  ‘Letters from the Highlands on the Famine of 1846’  (1848)

The Archaeological Assessment

For the purposes of this assessment, the area of the route of the proposed water main has been divided into four sections:

1. The Caledonian Canal

2. Banavie Crofting Township, the area North of the canal.

3. Corpach Moss / Mount Alexander, between the canal and the river

4. Dalvenvie, the area South of the River Lochy

For each area, a brief history will be given, followed by a list of archaeological features or areas of archaeological interest. This will pinpoint areas where particular attention will be paid during the walk-over assessment or where it can be anticipated that further archaeological input will be required.

1. The Caledonian Canal

The initial survey for the canal took place in 1803, and work was carried out mainly between 1804 and 1815, but with later improvements continuing into the 1840s. Five aqueducts were planned for the section of canal between Corpach and Loch Lochy, primarily to allow drainage of the streams flowing SE to the River Lochy, but it was soon realised that they would have a ‘Secondary purpose of Driving Ways or Occupation Roads for the use of the several farms on which they are situate” and were accordingly built wider to accommodate a roadway. The Lower Banavie, or Mount Alexander, aqueduct is the lowest of the five, and was built as two 9 ft. arches. Work on this aqueduct was completed in 1806, while the canal itself along this section was not completed until the winter of 1811. By 1813 roads to and from the aqueducts had also been constructed, and they were already in full use as communications between the lands above and below the canal.

Construction of the canal was by spadework, employing up to 270 men on any one section at its peak. The canal is described as having a ‘bottom width of 50ft, with slopes of 18 inches to a foot, so that by a depth of cutting of 15 ft, earth will be obtained to make the banks contain 20ft depth of water which will be 90ft in width at its surface” Stone for lining the canal and constructing the arches of the aqueducts were obtained from Banavie quarry, just NW of the series of locks known as Neptune’s Staircase. This quarry employed a further 130 masons and quarrymen. Railroads were constructed to transport the stone to the locks; it is not clear by what means stone was carried further distances to the aqueducts and beyond.

Comments

The Caledonian Canal, Corpach to Banavie section, SMR no. NN17NW0039 is a Scheduled Monument, and the Mount Alexander Aqueduct, SMR no. NN17NW0022 is ‘B’ Listed. Any work within the Scheduled area of the canal will require Scheduled Monument Consent, and archaeological monitoring will probably be a condition of consent for work to be carried out. The route of the pipeline runs for a short distance along the bank of the canal, and utilizes the contemporary roadway access to the aqueduct before running through the tunnel itself. This is the most archaeologically sensitive section of the project, and all work practices should be decided on in consultation with Historic Scotland and other interested bodies.

2. Banavie Crofting Township

The land to the North and West of the River Lochy was traditionally in the possession of Cameron of Locheil. From 1784 onwards, the previously heavily populated glens of Glendessary, Glenkingie, Glen Pean and Loch Arkaig side had been emptied of people and given over to sheepwalks. The evicted people were ‘driven to wretched hovels on the moss at Corpach’. Robert Somers refers to ‘the swarm of crofters along the margins of the Loch (Eil) and the Caledonian Canal’ . This suggests that the area where crofting lots were allocated to evicted people includes Corpach and Glen Albyn as well as Corpach Moss (now Caol). The commencement of work on the canal must have eased the initial hardships of the people considerably. 

Robert Somers describes in 1846 that there had formerly been a good deal of subdivision of crofts in some parts of the estate, but that fairly Draconian measures were employed by Locheil to prevent any further rise in population. It would seem that the period of construction of the canal saw the maximum population level, but a combination of the cessation of employment on the canal in the 1840s and the famine brought about by the potato blight led to large numbers seeking emigration. Temporary migration to seek work around Glasgow began during the years of the potato famine; later emigration was more permanent. In 1854, 100 people from the Locheil district emigrated to Australia; this is seen as the last phase of the Clearances.

Settlement at Banavie is not marked on any of the early canal plans, and a map of 1844 shows only those buildings adjacent to the canal. It does seem to show an original nucleus of the township at NN 1237 7829, around the present Dontra / Arkaig Cottage. By the time of the 1st edition Ordnance Survey in the 1870s the crofts are laid out along the road, although not in a particularly linear pattern. Holdings are irregular shapes, with areas left uncultivated. This patchy land use is still visible in the aerial photographs of 1946, where only three areas within Banavie are under cultivation, the rest being rough grazing or scrubland. The valuation rolls of 1908 list 20 holdings for the whole of Banavie: 10 house with croft, 8 land only, one house only, and one house with potato patch. This would appear to correspond with the number of buildings visible on the present Ordnance Survey Pathfinder map.

Some buildings marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map are not visible either on the present Pathfinder map or on aerial photographs. These are at NN 1193 7789, NN 1230 7829, NN 1236 7840, and NN 1241 7851. None of these lie on the route of the pipeline, and any archaeological remains should be unaffected. The route of the pipeline does pass immediately in front of Birch Cottage at NN 1214 7826, described as a derelict cottage and presumably a substantial standing ruin.

Comments

An archaeological walk-over survey would look for further features connected with crofting, and possible features dating to before the Clearances, paying particular attention to sections where the route of the pipeline does not run along the roadside. The vicinity of the derelict Birch Cottage at NN 1214 7826 will be investigated on the assumption that the cottage itself will not be damaged by the project, but associated structures may lie on the route of the pipeline.

3.Corpach Moss / Mount Alexander

Part of the Lochiel Estate, this narrow strip of land would have formed part of the Banavie township until artificially separated by the canal. The plans made during the construction of the canal show a cluster of buildings at the east end of this strip, and a road running from below the Lower Banavie aqueduct to Torcastle and beyond. This is likely to be the original road along the west of the River Lochy, following the river closely until Corpach Moss, where it runs directly to Corpach. Two roads skirt the moss to east and west, meeting at the site of the present Victoria Bridge, presumably then a ferry crossing linking Loch Eil with General Wade’s Military road which ran up the east side of the River Lochy.

The canal plan of 1811 show one building on the west bank of the Allt Mor at NN 1271 7743. This is not marked on any later maps. The canal map of 1844 does show a building further to the west at NN 1200 7737. This is in the same location as a croft house and enclosure marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, and may be the building marked on the present Pathfinder map.

The buildings at Mount Alexander were not printed on the 1844 canal map, but were later added by hand. Two buildings are marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map. These will not be affected by the present project.

Comments

The route of the pipeline, on leaving the canal side, runs down a trackway or road at NN 1198 7745 which follows the same route as the pre-canal road running from the crossing point on the River Lochy to Banavie, skirting east round the Corpach Moss. The archaeological walk-over survey will examine this section of trackway to ascertain whether there are any features which might date to the early 1800s. the survey will also attempt to identify the building at NN 1200 7737, which lies on or very close to the route of the pipeline, to ascertain the approximate date of any standing features and assess the impact of the project on this feature.

4.Dalvenvie

The south and east side of the River Lochy was formerly part of the extensive possessions of the Gordon family. The Duke of Gordon initiated the clearance of his estates around 1830, but after his bankruptcy sold the Inverlochy Estate to an English judge, Lord Abinger. This gentleman resided at Torlundy, which in the 1840s appears to have been given over entirely to the breeding of game and the letting of the shootings.

 Two small crofting townships had been established at Tomacharich and Dalvenvie, having between them, according to Robert Somers, no more than a dozen crofts. If this were divided equally between the two townships, one would expect to find the traces of around six crofting holdings at Dalvenvie. The 1st edition Ordnance survey map shows only five roofed buildings altogether, probably three houses and two byres or outhouses, at NN 1231 7721, NN 1243 7720 and NN 1268 7755, and one unroofed building at NN 1274 7754. No ruinous buildings are marked on this map, and none are visible on the aerial photographs of 1946. The 1909 valuation roll lists three holdings of a house with land at Dalvenvie, of which one is occupied by a water bailiff. This is probably the house at NN 1268 7755, at the water’s edge. The present Dalvenvie farm buildings would appear to have been built in the 20th century.

Comments

The only known building which is likely to be affected by the project is the possible water bailiff’s house at NN 1268 7755.The walk-over survey will ascertain whether there are any visible remains of this building and whether they are on the direct route of the water main.

It is recommended that during the walk-over survey, a watch be kept for traces of the original crofting holdings, in the form of field boundaries, clearance cairns and footings of buildings. Recommendations for the protection of these features can only be made after the survey.

Archaeological Conclusions

The information acquired during this desk-based assessment would suggest that the impact of the water main project on the archaeological record will be minimal, with the exception of the Caledonian Canal itself. Here, measures must be put in place to protect the canal and its associated features from accidental damage and to minimise the necessary damage from the laying of the pipeline along the bank and through the aqueduct. 

Other areas of archaeological interest have been listed in the report. Although it is unlikely that any of these will necessitate alterations to the route of the pipeline, it is recommended that the archaeological walk-over survey be carried out prior to any work commencing, to identify these archaeological features and assess the potential impact of the project on them.

Plan of Archaeological Features

The following features are marked on the plan of the area:

1. Mount Alexander Aqueduct

2. Birch Cottage, derelict cottage at NN 1214 7826

3. Corpach Moss, trackway at NN 1198 7745

4. Corpach Moss, building at NN 1200 7737

5. Dalvenvie, Water Bailiff’s House at NN 1268 7755
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Introduction

The author was asked by Halcrow Crouch, on behalf of the North of Scotland Water Authority, to carry out an archaeological desk-based assessment and walk-over survey of the route of the proposed water main between Banavie Service Reservoir and Dalvenvie. Due to restrictions on land access imposed during the Foot and Mouth outbreak, the desk-based assessment was submitted separately on 10.3.01. Permission was later granted for the walk-over survey to take place. This was carried out on 28.3.01, following NoSWA’s code of practice for contractors working on agricultural land.

The Archaeological Assessment

For the purposes of the desk-based assessment, the area of the route of the proposed water main was divided into four sections:

1. The Caledonian Canal

2. Banavie Crofting Township, the area north of the canal.

3. Corpach Moss / Mount Alexander, between the canal and the river

4. Dalvenvie, the area South of the River Lochy

Use of these sections continues in this report. However, the number of individual sites of potential archaeological interest has increased to 14 from an original 5, thus necessitating a re-numbering of the sites marked on the original sketch plan. The original numbering is given in brackets after the new number.

Although 14 sites of potential archaeological interest are noted, not all require action to protect them from damage during the present project. Where mitigating actions are recommended, these are given after the description of each site.

Area 1. The Caledonian Canal

Site no. 1.  Lower Banavie, or Mount Alexander Aqueduct. NN 1218 7765.Two adjacent and almost identical tunnels, the easternmost carrying the water of the Allt Mor and the westernmost providing pedestrian access to the Mount Alexander area (Photo no. 1). Originally the floor of both tunnels was cobbling sloping to a central drain. The floor level of the pedestrian tunnel was subsequently raised by the addition of a second, level layer of cobbles, divided into sections by means of wooden beams (Photo no. 2). This, together with the raising of the ground level immediately outside the tunnel entrance, may have been added as a means of preventing material from washing into the tunnel. A modern power line passes through the tunnel, protected by concrete boxing which runs along one side.

Recommendations: information has not been given as to the proposed method of running the pipeline through the aqueduct. Presumably a method has been worked out to the satisfaction of Historic Scotland and other interested bodies. Running the pipeline through on the surface in a protective casing similar to the method employed to run the power line through would protect the structure but would be unsightly and intrusive. However, excavating into the floor of the tunnel would seriously damage the 1806 cobbled flooring and might cause other structural problems. It is felt that it is beyond the remit of this assessment to recommend any particular course of action, and it is noted that it is proposed that an archaeologist be on site to carry out a watching brief while work is carried out.

Site no. 2. Mount Alexander Aqueduct: Southern Access Track and Ford. NN 1215 7767 The track rises to the towpath to the east of the aqueduct, having crossed the Allt Mor just south of the tunnels by means of a ford. The stream bed has been widened and the flow controlled to prevent erosion of the ford by means of cobbling and wooden beams placed across the stream, a similar method of construction to the additional cobbling within the pedestrian tunnel, and therefore presumably contemporary.

Recommendations: the pipeline passes across this track between the tunnel mouth and the ford. It cannot be seen whether this section of the track is also cobbled. It is recommended that this section be included in the archaeological watching brief to ascertain the nature of its construction. Should it prove to have been cobbled or in any way containing stonework, it is recommended that this be reinstated at the end of the project.

Site no. 3. Mount Alexander Aqueduct: Northern Access Track. NN 1217 7759 The route of the pipeline follows this track which curves up to the towpath to the west of the tunnels. Although the trackway is visible, it is overgrown and it is not clear whether its construction is any more complex than rubble and earth.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the laying of the pipeline down the route of this trackway be included in the archaeological watching brief to ascertain its method of construction. Should it prove to have cobbling, retaining walls or any other construction which would be damaged by the excavation of the pipeline trench, it is recommended that these be reinstated at the end of the project

Site no. 4.  Canal Towpath centred on NN1205 7763 The route of the pipeline runs along the towpath of the canal. The towpath is at sufficient height above water level for no damage to be done to the fabric of the canal by the insertion of the pipeline.

Area no. 2.  Banavie Crofts

Site no. 5.  Structure at NN 1187 7775 The grass-covered rubble footings of a structure lie under the gorse in the field opposite Whinknowe croft house. (Photo no. 3) This is probably a redundant croft building. It is located far enough from the field boundary to be unaffected by the present project.

Site no. 6. Track at NN 1194 7793 A grassy cart track runs along the SW bank of the Allt Mor above the road, at the base of the ravine cut by the stream. This is not marked on the present or on the1st edition Ordnance Survey map, and presumably fell out of use before the 1870s. This feature will not be affected by the present project as it does not become visible until approximately 20m north of the bridge.

Site no. 7. Derelict Cottage at NN 1213 7827 This cottage has become derelict within the past few decades and apart from broken windows is in a reasonable state. It will not itself be affected by the present project, and no associated features were located along the proposed route of the pipeline.

Site no. 8.  Causeway at NN 1223 7835 A narrow causeway has been constructed across the low, wet ground between the road and higher ground where buildings are marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map. This is visible as a straight bank running SE from the road for approximately 100m and rising no more than 2m above ground level.

Recommendations: this feature will be damaged by the excavation of the trench for the pipeline, but only for a short section. It is recommended that this feature be identified and marked before work commences, that the full wayleave is not topsoil stripped as it crosses the feature, and that spoil from excavating the trench is not dumped on the feature. After the pipeline is laid , it is recommended that the feature be restored to approximately its original state.

Area No. 3. Corpach Moss / Mount Alexander

Site no. 9.  Trackway at NN 1198 7745 This was noted during the desk-based assessment as following the same route as a road pre-dating the canal and its associated roads. Although this exists as an access route to the canal towpath, no feature of the track could be dated to before 1800, and there are no associated banks, dykes or any other structures. It is not felt that any mitigating measures are necessary.

Site no. 10. Building at NN1200 7737 during the field survey, this building of possible archaeological interest was found to be located within the area of the tip and scrapyard and was therefore not investigated. Any remains of this building will not be affected by the present project.

Site no. 11. Trackway at NN 1204 7732  This section of trackway is noted as on the same route as the original road running along the north side of the river Lochy, as marked on Telford’s canal plans in1806. There are no archaeological features associated with this section of track, and it is not felt that any mitigating actions are necessary.

Area no. 4. Dalvenvie and south of the River Lochy

Site no. 12. Buildings and enclosure at NN 1268 7755 Identified in the desk-based assessment from the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map and valuation rolls as possibly a water bailiff’s house. The archaeological evidence for such an identification is inconclusive. The visible remains consist of part of a building, now cut across by the track, measuring 4m. square (Photo no. 4). The remains of a second building are located within the forestry south of the track. Very little rubble is associated with these footings, and it is possible that both buildings were robbed of stone to build the present Dalvenvie farm house. Between the building and the river is a rectangular enclosure, its edges defined by turf dykes. The eastern dyke is the more visible, (Photo no. 5), the western makes use of natural outcrops of rock (Photo no. 6) The enclosure extends south into the forestry and connects with further possible turf dykes.

Recommendations: as this site has already been damaged by the construction of the present track, the routing of the pipeline along the track will cause no further damage to these features. If it is decided to avoid the track, it is recommended that the building be protected by routing the pipeline to the north of the track. This would mean cutting through the turf dykes of the enclosure, and it is recommended that, if damaged, these be reinstated at the end of the project.

Site no. 13. Pit at NN 1272 7758 A large rectangular pit, its base at ground level and the sides built up. The side nearest to the track is open. This appears to be of recent construction, although its function is unclear; it looks like a silage pit although this interpretation is unlikely as it is outside the Dalvenvie farm land. It may have been constructed for the loading or unloading of trucks, possibly connected with the adjacent forestry. However, it will be unaffected by the present project, so no mitigating action is required.                                                                                                           (Photo no. 7)

Site no. 14. Enclosure at NN 1275 7763 Originally a low, level field bordering on the river and enclosed by a turf dyke. This dyke is still visible north of the present track, running approximately NNE-SSW. It can also be traced running west to the river from the track, on the north side of the small stream crossed by the track. But in the immediate vicinity of the track, the dyke no longer exists. This enclosed field is marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map as Am Fasgadh, and may date back to the period of the Dalvenvie crofts or even earlier. As the dyke has already been completely removed in the vicinity of the track where the pipeline will pass, it is not considered that any mitigating action is necessary.                                                                                           (Photo no. 8)

Archaeological Conclusions

It would appear that apart from in the immediate area of the Canal and particularly the aqueduct, the impact of the project on the archaeological record will be slight. No prehistoric sites were located during this survey, and the majority of features recorded were confirmations of information gained from archive material. Except in specified cases where recommendations are given to protect the features, the pipeline route will either avoid or only slightly affect the archaeological features.
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